III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


a. Itwas error for the trial court to allow the trial to proceed or damages to be considered 

or awarded by the jury as to any Plaintiff without a detennination by the trial court or by the jury 

whether or not West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a applied. 

b. It was error for the trial court to allow personal representatives ofdeceased claimants 

to participate as Plaintiffs. 

c. It was error for the trial court to allow expert or lay witnesses to testify as to the 

application and meaning of statutes and law or to allow expert witnesses to testify as to matters 

outside the scope of their expertise. 

d. It was error for the trial court to deny a jury view. 

e. It was error for the Court to deny this Defendant's Motion for Judgment as a Matter 

of Law and allow the case to go to the jury without admissible evidence having been presented 

proving or tending to prove the elements of a common law cause of action. 

f. It was error for the trial court to instruct the jury that the single act which 

allegedly caused physical damage to the grave sites also justified an adverse inference against this 

Defendant as spoliation. 

g. It was error for the trial court to accept from the jury a verdict for emotional 

distress without a finding ofphysical damage to a grave or to the common area. 

h. And for such other and further relief from the errors which are apparent in the 

Appendix (referred to herein as "App." with page number) or the record to which Petitioner is justly 

entitled. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

While there were previous West Virginia decisions concerning "desecration" when the events 
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made the subject of the Complaints involved here occurred, those previous decisions involved the 

handling ofdead bodies or damage to known graves or cemeteries. Claims for the desecration of a 

grave the very existence of which was not apparent had not been addressed by this Court and, of 

equal importance, the effect of West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a on the common law had not been 

determined. Decisions as to those issues were provided by this Court in its response to certified 

questions, given in regard to this same case, reported as Hairston v. General Pipeline Constr., Inc., 

et al., 226 W. Va. 663, 704 S.E.2d 663 (2010). In that decision, the necessary elements ofa common 

law desecration claim for damage to graves sites were clearly identified and it was also held that, if 

the Code section cited above applied, the statutory provisions prevailed over the common law. This 

appeal arises because ofthe failure ofthe trial court to follow those and other rulings ofthis Court. 

Equitable Production Company ("Equitable"), Appellant in a related appeal currently before 

this Court as Docket Number 13-0934, contracted with Appellant General Pipeline Construction, 

Inc., ("General Pipeline") in 2004 to relocate a gas gathering-pipeline on a large tract of wooded, 

unimproved, hillside land, which included the area known as Crystal Block Hollow, near the 

unincorporated town of Sarah Ann in southern Logan County, West Virginia. The small bulldozer 

used by General Pipeline, in tramming through the woods on an ATV trail down the mountainside 

to an access road, passed through an area later found to contain graves. There were no signs or other 

apparent outward indications that there were grave sites in the area, the most recent burial apparently 

occurring some forty (40) years before; neither the individual graves nor a cemetery were identified 

on anymap; the site was not reserved for burials in or conveyed for that purpose by any deed or other 

recorded document; and the site was not included on any listing ofgrave sites or cemeteries kept by 

any agency or organization. (App. at 189-90 and 844). 

After the legal issues had been resolved by this Court in response to the certified questions, 
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the trial judge recused himself and a special judge was appointed. The case was tried in Logan 

County for three weeks, from September 24, 2012, through October 14,2012. That trial was rife with 

error detailed elsewhere in this Brief, ranging from procedural matters, such as the denial ofa jury 

view of the grave sites jointly sought by counsel and twice requested by the jury; to evidentiary 

rulings, such as allowing an anthropologist and individual Plaintiffs to testify as to their beliefs about 

the requirements of the law and allowing a lawyer to testify as to the intent of the parties to a 1923 

coal lease (App. at 841-44); to instructions given to the jury intertwining the common law elements 

ofdesecration and the statutory provisions ofWest Virginia Code §29-1-8a (App. at 1426-29); to 

accepting a jury verdict which awarded no compensatory damages but gave $50,000.00 to each of 

the fourteen (14) Plaintiffs for mental distress, exactly the same amount to each without regard to 

any distinguishing facts (App. at 1-8), a possibility foreseen and declared improper by this Court in 

Hairston, supra. 

The jury gave a further award of$14,000.00 to one Plaintiff with a handwritten note on the 

Verdict Form "Overseer of restoring of cemetery." (App. at 4). This was the same amount sought 

in damages by Plaintiffs for (1) erecting a monument where none had existed before; (2) building 

concrete stairs where none had existed before; (3) using subsurface radar to determine ifany graves 

were located under the bulldozer's path, although Plaintiff s expert testified he saw no evidence of 

such graves; and (4) Plaintiffs' expert's fee for overseeing the above. (App. at 720, 723-25). All of 

this was to be performed on land to which Plaintiffs had shown no right or title. Seventy per cent of 

the fault was attributed to General Pipeline and the remainder to Equitable. (App. at 3). 

Although not a part ofthis appeal, the jury was also asked to determine whether Defendants 

had been willful, wanton, reckless or malicious in their actions, although no punitive damages 

instructions were given and arguments by counsel to the jury on the subject were prohibited by the 
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Court. Instead ofmarking "Yes" or "No" in the spaces provided, the jury wrote "reckless only" as 

to each Defendant. (App. at 6). Based on this finding, the trial court held that punitive damages were 

appropriate and, in a second phase ofthe trial on October 18,2012, additional evidence, primarily 

consisting ofthe income or lack ofincome ofDefendants, was presented to the same jury. The jury 

awarded punitive damages of $200,000.00 against Equitable. (App. at 1740-41). 

A hearing on Defendants' post-trial motions was held on February 25,2013, and an Order 

denying those motions was finally entered during another hearing on July 26, 2013. (App. aU 0-19). 

The pending Third-Party Complaints and the enforcement ofthe judgment in favor ofPlaintiffs were 

stayed pending completion of this appeal. 

v. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

It was held by this Court that West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a (sometimes referred to herein 

as ''the statute"), ifit applied, prevailed over the common law applicable to grave desecration claims. 

Hairston, supra. But in the preparation for and in the trial of this case no finding was made by the 

trial court as to whether the statute applied, which might have negated even the need for a trial, while 

during trial the distinction between the statutory standards and the common law elements was 

ignored, the two confused and mixed in the presentation of evidence, arguments and jury 

instructions, so that the requirements ofone was used to determine liability under the other, and no 

factual finding was requested of the jury to permit it to determine the applicable law. In addition, 

evidentiary and procedural errors, such as allowing witnesses to testify as to the meaning and 

application of the law, allowing experts to testify far beyond their expertise, refusing a jury view 

when the appearance ofthe area was the single most important fact in the case, ignoring deficiencies 

in proof, and accepting a jury verdict awarding improper damages, were allowed. Because ofthese 

errors, the jury verdict must be set aside due to the lack ofevidence and judgement entered for the 
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Defendant. If further proceedings are deemed necessary, attention must be given to the 

determination of the applicable law, and, if then necessary, the matter properly re-tried. 

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

It is requested that this matter be scheduled for Rule 19 oral argument. The issues presented 

include errors by the trial court in the application of settled law, both that announced in Hairston 

supra; unsustainable exercises ofdiscretion; and rulings contrary to the weight ofthe evidence; all 

primarily narrow issues of law. Oral argument will aid the Court in reaching the correct decision. 

However, because of the length of trial and of the record, additional time of at least thirty (30) 

minutes for each side should be allowed. 

VII. ARGUMENT 

Standard of Review 

The rulings ofthe trial court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to the existence of 

reversible error is reviewed by this Court under an abuse ofdiscretion standard while the trial court's 

underlying factual findings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are 

subject to a de novo review. See, e.g., Estep v. Mike Ferrell Ford Lincoln-Mercury, Inc., 223 W. 

Va. 209, 672 S.E.2d 345 (2008). 

a. 	 It was error for the trial court to allow the trial to proceed or damages to be 
considered or awarded by the jury as to any Plaintiff without a determination 
by the trial court or by the jury whether or not West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a 
applied. 

As its first holding in earlier addressing the law applicable to these claims, Hairston v. 

General Pipeline Construction, Inc., 226 W. Va. 663, 704 S.E.2d 663 (W. Va. 2010), this Court 

stated ''that West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a preempts the common law with respect to the matters 

specifically addressed in the statute." 

During none of the proceedings in this matter before the lower court was any ruling made 
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or any instruction given to the jury for it to detennine a fact controlling whether West Virginia Code 

§ 29-1-8a applied to a Plaintiffs claim. Whether a determination ofthe applicable law is held to be 

purely a function ofthe trial court, as in Jackson v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 215 W. Va. 634, 

600 S.E.2d 346 (2004), even when a factual finding is involved, as in Caperton v. A. T. Massey Coal 

Co., 225 W. Va. 128,690 S.E.2d 322 (2009); or a jury finding must be made before the trial court 

can act, as in Perrine v. E. L du Pont de Nemours & Co., 225 W. Va. 482, 694 S.E.2d 815 (2010), 

no such determination was made. 

Because the statute prevailed over the common law, a determination that the statute did or 

did not apply was required before any Plaintiff could proceed with a claim: 

The prosecuting attorney ofthe county in which a violation ofany provision 
of this section is alleged to have occurred may be requested the Director of 
the Historic Preservation Section ... to seek civil damages, injunctive relief 
and any other appropriate relief. ...." (emphasis added.) 

West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a(g)(I). 

Such a determination was required before any finding could be made as to what damages 

could be recovered: 

Civil damages may include: 

(I) forfeiture of any and all equipment used in disturbing the protected 
unmarked graves or grave markers; 
(ii) any and all costs incurred in cleaning, restoring, analyzing, accessioning 
and curating the recovered material; 
(iii) any and all costs associated with recovery of data, and analyzing, 
publishing, accessioning and curating materials when the prohibited activity 
is so extensive as to preclude the restoration ofthe unmarked burials or grave 
markers; 
(iv) Any and all costs associated with restoring the land to its original contour 
or the grave marker to its original condition; 
(v) Any and all costs associated with reinterment of the human skeletal 
remains; and 
(vi) Any and all costs associated with the determination and collection ofthe 
civil damages. 

West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a(g)(2). 
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Such a determination was required before any finding could be made that Plaintiffs 

could receive any damages awarded: 

When civil damages are recovered, the proceeds ... shall be deposited into 
the Endangered Historic Properties Fund and may be expended by the 
CommissionerofCulture and History for archaeological programs at the state 
level ...." 

West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a(g)(2). 

If the trial court had determined that West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a applied to the events 

made the subject of this litigation, or even as to any singular claim ofany Plaintiff, then this trial 

should never have even taken place as to at least that singular claim or Plaintiff. Plaintiffs simply 

cannot prosecute claims or receive any award ofdamages for matters to which the statute applies. 

If the court had determined that the statute applied, then whether or not either Defendant 

reported the "discovery" (interesting in its own right because the accusation was that Defendants 

failed to report as a "discovery" that which Plaintiffs argue was an obvious and well-known 

cemetery) would have been irrelevant, and the various arguments and errors which occurred could 

have been avoided, because the statutory liability does not depend upon that failure. West Virginia 

Code § 29-1-8a(g). 

If the trial court had determined that the statute did not apply, reliance upon that statute as 

justification for a jury instruction that Defendants' failure under West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a( d) 

to subsequently report the previous discovery of a grave was prima facie negligence, to be 

considered by the jury in determining whether or not common law damages should be awarded, was 

completely misplaced. (App. at 1-9). 

It is beyond argument that the subsequent failure to report the "discovery" ofa grave to the 

Sheriff of the county cannot have been a proximate cause of the physical damage claimed to have 
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been caused by the very act which resulted in the discovery. Absent such a proximate relationship, 

the giving of the negligence instruction based on this statute was improper. 

Under West Virginia law, a "violation ofa statute is prima facie evidence ofnegligence." Syl. 

Pt. 1, in part, Anderson v. Moulder, 183 W.Va. 77, 394 S.E.2d 61 (1990); accord Spurlin v. Nardo, 

145 W.Va. 408, 415, 114 S.E.2d 913, 918 (1960). 

"In order to be actionable," however, "such violation must be the proximate cause of the 

plaintiffs injury." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, Anderson, 183 W.Va. at 79,394 S.E.2d at 63; accord Waugh 

v. Traxler, 186 W.Va. 355, 358, 412 S.E.2d 756, 759 (1991). 

An erroneous instruction such as that given by the lower court based on West Virginia Code 

§ 29-1-8a(g) is presumed to be prejudicial and warrants at least a new trial unless it appears that the 

complaining party was not prejudiced by such instruction. Syllabus Point 2, Hollen v. Linger, 151 

W. Va. 255,151 S.E.2d330 (1966). syllabuspoint3,Honakerv. Mahon, 21OW. Va. 53, 552 S.E.2d 

788 (2001); Syl. Pt. 4, Matheny v. Fairmont Gen. Hosp., 212 W. Va. 740, 575 S.E.2d 350 (2002). 

h. 	 It was error for the trial court to allow personal representatives of deceased 
claimants to participate as Plaintiffs. 

In Hairston, this Court held ''that the next of kin who possess the right to recover in a 

common law cause of action for grave desecration shall be the decedent's surviving spouse or, if 

such spouse is deceased, the person or persons of closest and equal degree of kinship in the order 

provided by West Virginia Code § 42-1-1, et seq." 

Two individuals who were originally named as Plaintiffs in one of the actions consolidated 

into this single case subsequently died and the administrators oftheir estates, Shirley J. Wilder, the 

daughter of Louella Wilder, deceased, and Jacqueline Powell Hamlett, executor of the estate of 

Ulysses Olbert, deceased, were substituted as Plaintiffs in this action. Neither these personal 
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representatives nor any of the beneficiaries of the estates ofLouella Wilder, deceased, and Ulysses 

Olbert, deceased, would have qualified as one ofthe "persons ofclosest and equal degree ofkinship" 

inasmuch as others members of the same class as their decedents remained as Plaintiffs. 

There is argument to be made that, pursuant to West Virginia Code § 55-7-8a the action 

instituted by Louella Wilder, deceased, and Ulysses Olbert, deceased, may properly be revived by 

their respective personal representatives. The result of revival in the name of the personal 

representative, however, is that, instead of the claimants being the "persons of closest and equal 

degree of kinship" to the interred decedent as this Court directed in Hairston, others not qualified 

as members ofthat class will have been admitted while others - possibly children ofLouella Wilder, 

deceased, and Ulysses Olbert, deceased, who are not beneficiaries of their respective estates and 

certainly nieces and nephews of Louella Wilder, deceased, and Ulysses Olbert, deceased, who's 

parent still survives - individuals ofequal closeness and degree ofkinship to the interred decedents 

to the personal representatives ofLouella Wilder, deceased, and Ulysses Olbert, deceased, remain 

excluded. 

c. 	 Itwas error for the trial court to allow expert or lay witnesses to testify as to the 
application and meaning of statutes and law or to allow expert witnesses to 
testify as to matters outside the scope of their expertise. 

During the course of the trial, the Court allowed Plaintiffs' counsel in the examination of 

individual Plaintiffs and others called as experts to solicit testimony and to argue to the jury as to the 

meaning and application of law to which Defendants were supposedly subject. This primarily 

involved West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a( d) but included other portions ofthat statute. (App. at 709

18). 

This error was most egregiously shown in the testimony ofWilliam Updike, an unemployed 

anthropologist, as to the supposed reporting requirements ofWest Virginia Code § 29-1-8a( d) (App. 
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at 709-18) but is also well illustrated in that same witness's testimony as to the federal statutes which 

were asserted to be applicable to Equitable (App. at 716-18); the testimony ofattorney Marc Lazenby 

(App. at 841-44), and the testimony ofPlaintiff James Olbert who was not qualified as an expert in 

any capacity. (App. at 316-17). 

Testimony as to the law is not admissible because it is irrelevant under Rule 401 of 

the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. 

It is a general rule oflaw that it is the duty of the jury to take the law from the court 
and to apply that law to the facts as it finds them from the evidence. The [jury] 
instructions are the law of the case. 

Nesbittv. Flaccus, 149 W. Va. 65, 77,138 S.E.2d 859,867 (1964) (citations omitted). 

The trial judge is the "sole source of the law," and witnesses 
should not be allowed to testify on the status of the law, just as 
counsel are forbidden to argue the law to jurors. Hearing statements 
of ''the law" from several sources would not be helpful to jurors . 

. . . [A]n expert's testimony is proper under Rules 702 and 704 if 
the expert does not attempt to define the legal parameters within 
which the jurymust exercise its fact-finding function. However, when 
the purpose of testimony is to direct the jury's understanding to 
the legal standards upon which their verdict must be based, the 
testimony should not be allowed. A witness, expert or non-expert, 
should not be allowed to' define the law of the case. 

Indeed, it is black-letter law that it is not for witnesses but for the 
judge to instruct the jury as to applicable principles of law. In our 
legal system, purely legal questions and instructions to the jury on the 
law to be applied to the resolution of the dispute before them is 
exclusively the domain of the judge. The danger is that the jury may 
think that the "expert" in the particular branch ofthe law knows more 
than the judge-surely an impermissible inference in our system of 
law. 

Because the jury does not decide such pure questions of law, such 
testimony is not helpful to the jury and so does not fall within the 
literal terms of Rule 702[.] Franklin D. Cleckley, Handbook On 
Evidence For West Virginia Lawyers § 7-4(B),pp. 7-78-7-79 (2000). 
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Jackson v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 215 W. Va. 634 at 644, 600 S.E.2d 346 at 356 (W. Va. 
2004). 

The Court allowed William Updike, qualified as an expert based upon his education as an 

anthropologist, to express before the jury his opinions as to the identification and location ofgrave 

sites in the area. (App. at 791-92). However, over strenuous objections (App. at 697-99, 789-93), he 

was also allowed to offer his opinions regarding a host ofother subjects including the intentions of

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