III. PETITIONER'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. It was error for the trial court to allow the trial to proceed or damages to be 
considered or awarded by the jury as to any Plaintiff without a determination by the trial court or 
by the jury whether or not West Virginia Code § 29-1-8a applied. 

2. It was error for the trial court to allow personal representative of deceased 
claimants to participate as Plaintiffs. 

3. It was error for the trial court to allow expert or lay witnesses to testify as to the 
application and meaning of statutes and law or to allow expert witnesses to testify as to matters 
outside the scope of their expertise.

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

Defendants' entry and the Defendants had prior knowledge of the existence of the cemetery. 

Various witnesses testified that the area was identifiable as a cemetery, by its appearance, prior 

to the Defendants' entry. Appendix I-II, Pgs. 229 (6:16-7:3); 251-5; 257-60; 267-73; 304-18; 

323-5; 331-2; 334; 340-60; 430-57; 462-474; 475-85; 890-9; 907-47; 1075-96; 1075-96 & 1104

1120 (5:13-21 :6). There were hand-dug steps, shrubbery, graves and markers that clearly 

marked this area in a manner which will indicate its use as a cemetery. See Id. & Appendix I, 

Pgs. 717-718 (108:17-109:22); see Hairston, at n. 7. Mr. McNeely testified that he visited the 

site in approximately 2002 (two years before the desecration) and the cemetery was intact, 

including the hand-dug steps. Appendix I, Pgs. 275-279 (100:20-115:3). When Michael O'Dell, 

an on-site General Pipeline employee, was called the scene by Mr. Keaton after the incident, it 

clearly was visible as a cemetery. Appendix I, Pgs. 215-225 (13:7-53:12). After the incident, 

forester Woody Ruffner went to the scene to investigate it and indicated in an email that the area 

obviously was a cemetery. Appendix I, Pgs. 365-368 (5:7-17:17). Mr. Fairless indicated that 

when he went to the scene, it immediately was evident that the scene was a cemetery. Appendix 

I, Pg. 870. 

Furthermore, Mr. Baisden adamantly testified that he informed General Pipeline 

bulldozer operator Yandle Keaton about the cemetery before he trammed through it five (5) to 

nine (9) times. Appendix II, Pgs. 1069-1075 (9:14-15:14). Mr. Keaton's response to Mr. 
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Baisden - "F- them 'N's." 

(4) Plaintiffs' decedents were interred in the cemetery by license or right. As 

aforementioned, Mr. Lazenby opined that the subject mineral lease conveyed broad rights to 

Crystal Block Coal & Coke Company, as lessee, to utilize the surface property to create a 

company town which included the right to burial. Appendix I, Pgs. 838-843 (8:16-13:23). 

Death Certificates, Registers of Death and funeral home records also identify the area as the 

Crystal Block Cemetery. Appendix I, Pgs. 688-94 (79:2-85: 10). 

(5) There is no dispute that the Respondents were the next of kin of their 

decedents with the right to assert a claim for desecration. Each of the Respondents testified 

about their respective familial relationships to their decedents, adduced pertinent records and 

there was no objection to that testimony or evidence. 

(6) General Pipeline, in party, proximately caused, either directly or 

indirectly, defacement, damage, or other mistreatment of the physical area of the decedent's 

grave site or common areas of the cemetery in a manner that a reasonable person knows will 

outrage the sensibilities of others. Numerous witnesses testified about this matter and Plaintiffs 

adduced various exhibits which substantiated this claim. Mr. Baisden testified that, after Vandle 

Keaton ignored his warning, a significant amount of dirt was removed from the area. 

In addition, Michael O'Dell, an on-site General Pipeline employee, testified that Vandle 

Keaton did not walk the cemetery path before cutting the road. Appendix I, Pgs. 215-225 (13:7

53:12). Then, Mr. Keaton partially cut the road through the cemetery when he was called to the 

scene. Appendix I, Pgs. 215-225 (13:7-53:12). When Mr. O'Dell arrived at the scene, it clearly 

was visible as a cemetery. Mr. O'Dell testified that Mr. Keaton shut off the bulldozer at the 
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cemetery. Mr. Keaton knocked over grave markers, but there were other undisturbed grave 

markers in the area. At this point, Mr. O'Dell helped clean the area with a shovel and rake. 

Later that day, Mr. Keaton resumed and finished cutting the road through the cemetery. The 

testimony of Mr. O'Dell was corroborated by Gary O'Dell, his brother and another on-site 

General Pipeline employee. 

Moreover, there was testimony that after the road was cut through the cemetery, it opened 

the area to ATV traffic and became a party spot. Appendix, Pgs. 314-315; 1167 (164:165:22). 

Equitable Production Company emails verify this situation. Local resident Steven Hatfield also 

testified that the area above the cemetery was not a "party spot" until General Pipeline made a 

road through the cemetery. Appendix II, Pg. 1167 (164:165:22). 

Consequently, General Pipeline failed to meet its bum as articulated in Orr. General 

Pipeline's arguments merely go to the weight of the evidence. The jury considered General 

Pipeline's arguments and soundly rejected all of them. If anything, the jury's verdict reflects the 

heinous acts and omissions of General Pipeline, which the jury also found to be reckless. See 

Willis v. Mountfair Gas Coal Co., 104 W.Va. 12, 138 S.E. 749 (1927)Oury verdicts are to be 

liberally construed and upheld); See also State v. Hill, 120 W.Va. 582,200 S.E. 587 (1938)(when 

the verdict is construed liberally, the court can collect the meaning of the jury the verdict will 

serve) and McNeely v. Frich, 187 W.Va. 26,415 S.E.2d 267 (1992)(ajury is better able to judge 

circumstances of a case, the weight ofthe testimony, and the peculiar hardships and aggravations 

attendant upon an injury). The reprehensible conduct of General Pipeline warranted the jury 

verdict and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in accepted it. 
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6. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in giving the adverse inference jury 

instruction because there was a specific pIan to spoliate the evidence from the Crystal Block 

Cemetery. 

With respect to jury instructions: 

[a] trial court's instructions to the jury must be a correct statement 
of the law and supported by the evidence. Jury instructions are 
reviewed by determining whether the charge, reviewed as a whole, 
sufficiently instructed the jury so they understood the issues 
involved and were not misle[ d] by the law. A jury instruction 
cannot be dissected on appeal; instead, the entire instruction is 
looked at when determining its accuracy. A trial court, therefore, 
has broad discretion in formulating its charge to the jury, so long 
as the charge accurately reflects the law. Deference is given to a 
trial court's discretion concerning the specific wording of the 
instruction, and the precise extent and character of any specific 
instruction will be reviewed only for an abuse of discretion. See 
State v. Guthrie, SyI. Pt. 4, 194 W.Va., 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 
(1995). 

A verdict should not be disturbed based on the formulation of the language of the jury 

instructions so long as the instructions given as a whole are accurate and fair to both parties. See 

Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc., SyI. Pt. 6, 194 W.Va. 97, 459 S.E.2d 374 

(1995). Instructions must be read as a whole, and if, when so read, it is apparent they could not 

have misled the jury, then the verdict will not be disturbed, even though one of the instructions 

which is not a binding instruction may have been susceptible of a doubtful construction while 

standing alone. See Tennant at SyI. Pt. 7. 

In Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., Inc., this Court made clear that: 

[t]o challenge jury instructions successfully, a challenger must first 
demonstrate the charge as a whole created a substantial and 
ineradicable doubt about whether the jury was properly guided in 
its deliberations. Second, even if the jury instructions were 
erroneous, we will not reverse if we determine, based upon the 
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entire record, that the challenged instruction could not have 
affected the outcome of the case. See ld., 198 W.Va. 51, 70, 479 
S.E.2d 561,580 (1996). 

In Tracy v. Cottrell, this Court established a four (4) part analysis for determining 

whether to give an adverse inference instruction. See ld., 206 W.Va. 363, 371, 524 S.E.2d 879, 

887 (1999); see also Hannah v. Heeter, 213 W.Va. 704, 584 S.E.2d 560 (2003). Before a trial 

court may give an adverse inference jury instruction for spoliation of evidence, the following 

factors must be considered: (1) the party's degree of control, ownership, possession or authority 

over the destroyed evidence; (2) the amount of prejudice suffered by the opposing party as a 

result of the missing or destroyed evidence and whether such prejudice was substantial; (3) the 

reasonableness of anticipating that the evidence would be needed for litigation; and (4) if the 

party controlled, owned, possessed or had authority over the evidence, the party's degree of fault 

(meaning a determination of whether the destruction of the evidence was intentional or 

negligent) in causing the destruction of the evidence. The party requesting has the burden of 

proof on each element of the four (4) factors of the spoliation test. If, the trial court finds that 

the party charged with spoliation of evidence did not control, own, possess, or have authority 

over the destroyed evidence, then the requisite analysis ends and no adverse inference instruction 

may be given. 

Here, there is no dispute that General Pipeline had control or authority over the destroyed 

evidence at the cemetery. General Pipeline was hired by Equitable to relocate a pipeline and it 

controlled the scene at the tinle in question. Mr. Keaton did not walk the cemetery path as he 

claimed. Mr. Baisden, noticed the direction of the work was heading toward to the cemetery and 

told Mr. Keaton about the existence of the cemetery. Mr. Keaton said "F- them 'N's" and then 
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cut the road through the cemetery. After the incident, on-site General Pipeline employees 

testified that Mr. Keaton stopped work once he entered in the cemetery to clean the scene, but he 

finished cutting the road later in the day. Then, the hand-dug steps, graves and soil were 

removed from the scene. 

Respondents suffered substantial prejudice from General Pipeline as a result of the 

missing or destroyed evidence at the cemetery. General Pipeline took advantage of this missing 

evidence, which was in its possession, to deny knowledge of the cemetery and to claim there was 

no damage to the cemetery. Respondents' expert witnesses also did not have an opportunity to 

inspect the cemetery after the incident, but before removal of items, including the hand-dug 

steps. 

There was a reasonable anticipation that the evidence would be needed for litigation. Mr. 

Keaton ignored Mr. Baisden's warning, made a reprehensible comment and then cut the road. 

Upon realizing his reckless mistake, he stopped work in the cemetery and called on-site 

employees to the scene in order to alter it. Then, Mr. Keaton resumed cutting the road through 

the cemetery, thereby discarding any evidence by the end of the day and he did not bother notify 

the Sheriff about the incident. Mr. Keaton anticipated litigation, so he continued a reckless 

course ofbehavior. 

General Pipeline intentionally caused the destruction of the evidence at the cemetery. 

Mr. Keaton cut the road through the cemetery despite being warned by Mr. Baisden. The 

incident would not have occurred but for that simple fact. 

The adverse inference jury instruction was warranted by the facts of the case and it was 

an accurate statement of law. In reading the jury instructions as a whole, the jury was not misled 
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by this instruction. Consequently, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in giving the adverse 

inference instruction and this Court should not disturb the verdict. 

7. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in accepting from the jury a verdict 

for emotional distress because there was admissible evidence presented proving or tending to 

prove physical damage to a grave or to the common area. 

As aforementioned, numerous witnesses testified about the defacement, damage and other 

mistreatment to the physical area of the decedents' grave sites and of the common areas of the 

cemetery, including, but not limited to the hand-dug steps, graves and soil, in a manner that a 

reasonable person knows will outrage the sensibilities of others. See supra. Each Respondent 

similarly testified about the desecration with respect to their decedents' graves and the cemetery 

common areas, including the fact that each of their decedents were located in the path of the 

bulldozer. The evidence against was General Pipeline was overwhelming and the Respondents' 

emotional distress was evident. General Pipeline's argument goes to the weight of the evidence 

and the jury rejected the argument. The jury determined that General Pipeline's conduct was 

reckless and made an award in accord with Syllabus Point 10 ofthe Hairston opinion. 

Furthermore, General Pipeline's clam that the jury's equal emotional damage awards and 

award to Plaintiff Cora Hairston as "overseer of restoration of the cemetery" is based upon 

sympathy is based upon pure speculation with no legal support. The "equal treatment" argument 

merely goes to the weight of the evidence, not the law. At trial, General Pipeline made the same 

argument to the jury, the jury considered that argument and then soundly rejected it. The jury was 

disgusted by General Pipeline's conduct and it was at liberty to make the awards for indeterminate 

damages in any way it deemed proper. See Hairston at Syl. Pt. 10; See also Willis, supra; State v. 
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Hill, supra and McNeely, supra. General Pipeline-:overlooks the fact that the graves of 

Respondents' decedents, along with the cemetery's common areas, are gone or decimated and they 

have to go to a steep road, cut by General Pipeline, through the cemetery in order to mourn their 

dead. See Ritter v. Couch, 71 W.Va. at 227,228,76 S.E. at 430 (If relatives of blood may not 

defend the graves of their departed[,] who may? Always the human heart has rebelled against 

the invasion of the cemetery precincts; always has the human mind contemplated the grave as the 

last and enduring resting place after the struggles and sorrows of this world.). Consequently, the 

trial court did not abuse its discretion in accepting the verdict and this Court should not disturb it. 

8. There is no basis for such other and further relief from alleged errors which 

are in the Appendix or the record which Petitioner did not argue with specificity or 

particularity. 

General Pipeline generally asserts errors by the trial court which are apparent in the 

Appendix or record to which it is entitled to relief. However, General Pipeline does not assert 

these alleged errors with any specificity, particularity or argument. Issues not raised in this appeal 

are deemed waived. See Mack-Evans v. Hilltop Healthcare Ctr., Inc., 226 W. Va. 257, 264 n.12, 

700 S.E.2d 317,324 n.12 (2010) ("To the extent that the issue was raised below, but not on appeal, 

it is deemed waived."); State v. Lockhart, 208 W. Va. 622,627 n.4, 542 S.E.2d 443, 448 nA (2000) 

("Assignments of error that are not briefed are deemed waived."); See Addair v. Bryant, Syi. Pt. 6, 

168 W.Va. 306,284 S.E.2d 374 (1981)("Assignments of error that are not argued in the briefs on 

appeal may be deemed by this Court to be waived."); State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294, 302, 470 

S.E.2d 613,621 (1996) ("Although we liberally construe briefs in determining issues presented for 

review, issues which are . . . mentioned only in passing but are not supported with pertinent 
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authority [] are not considered on appeal."); see also Tiernan, 203 W.Va. at 140 n. 10,506 S.E.2d 

at 583 n. 10 ("Issues not raised on appeal or merely mentioned in passing are deemed waived."). 

The West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure are not mere procedural niceties, they set forth a 

structured method to permit litigants and this Court to carefully review each case. "Judges are not 

like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs." State Dept. of Health v. Robert Morris N., 195 

W.Va 759, 765, 466 S.E.2d 827, 833 (1995). Furthermore, as this Court previously found, "[a] 

skeletal 'argument,' really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim. State v. 

Kaufman, 227 W.Va. at 555 n.39, 711 S.E.2d at 625 n.39 (quoting United States v. Dunkel, 927 

F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir. 1991)). 

"An appellant must carry the burden of showing error in the judgment of which he 

complains. This Court has explained that it will not reverse the judgment of a trial court unless 

error affirmatively appears from the record. Error will not be presumed, all presumptions being in 

favor of the correctness of the judgment." Morgan, at Syllabus Point 5; Tennant, at SyI. Pt. 2; 

Goldman, 208 W.Va. at 199-200 n. 22, 539 S.E.2d at 459-60 n. 22 (deeming assignment of error 

that "is terse and lacks any authority to support it" to have been waived); Tiernan, 203 W.Va. at 

140 n. 10,506 S.E.2d at 583 n. 10 ("Issues not raised on appeal or merely mentioned in passing are 

deemed waived." (citation omitted)); State v. Lilly, 194 W.Va. at 605 n. 16,461 S.E.2d at 111 n. 16 

("[C]asual mention of an issue in a brief is cursory treatment insufficient to preserve the issue on 

appeal." (internal quotations and citation omitted)).

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